FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 MAY 19 PM 3:39

STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY 
DEPUTY

No. 48375-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

TORI KRUGER-WILLIS,

Appellant,

v.

HEATHER HOFFENBURG AND JOHN DOE HOFFENBURG,

Respondent.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALANA BULLIS, PS
Alana K. Bullis, WSBA No. 30554
1911 Nelson Street
DuPont, WA 98327
(253) 905-4488
Attorney for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

This case began in July 2008, as a straight-forward, low-value vehicle property damage claim in the amount of \$5,044.00. CP 906-08; CP 846. Appellant Tori Kruger-Willis (Kruger-Willis) filed suit against Respondent Heather Hoffenburg (Hoffenburg)¹ after Hoffenburg hit Kruger-Willis' vehicle with Derek Lebeda's (Lebeda) vehicle. CP 906-08. Lebeda was insured by General Insurance Company (GEICO). CP 845. Hoffenburg was a covered driver under Lebeda's policy. CP 686.

The parties are now eight years into litigation and this is the third appeal in the case. The procedural history is long and convoluted because the GEICO-employed defense attorneys, Morgan Wais (Wais) and Paul Crowley (Crowley),² never communicated with Hoffenburg and they do not know her whereabouts. RP 7-12.

What is evident from the pleadings filed post-mandate since the first appeal is that the defense attorneys are defending this case on behalf of GEICO and not their purported client, Hoffenburg.

After the Court issued its opinion in the first appeal, the defense attorneys never argued that Hoffenburg should recover under RCW 4.84.250 the prevailing party attorney fees and costs, as follows:

¹ The true name of Hoffenburg is Heather Hofferbert. CP 740. Kruger-Willis properly named Hoffenburg in the complaint. CP 906. The misidentification of Hoffenburg was not due to a scrivener's error; rather, it was by an affirmative representation of Wais, who moved the trial court to change the case caption from Hofferbert to Hoffenburg. CP 740.

² Wais withdrew as counsel on July 1, 2014, and Crowley substituted on the same date. CP 644. When Kruger-Willis refers to "the defense attorneys," she is referring to Wais and Crowley, collectively.

1. On June 6, 2011, the defense's position was that Hoffenburg was the prevailing party. Wais stated, "I'm asking the Court to enter judgment finding in favor of my client, the defendant..." CP 983-84; CP 1036.

2. On June 27, 2011, the defense's position was that Hoffenburg was the prevailing party. Wais argued:

Based upon the defendant being the prevailing party within the definition [of] RCW 4.84.250, I'm now moving for reasonable costs and attorney's fees (emphasis added).³ CP 1045

Briefly, I want to just address plaintiff's reply, essentially to say that it relies upon information that's really not relevant to the proceeding. It talks about Geico this and Geico that; it talks about who the prevailing party is. *The fact is the prevailing party is the defendant, Ms. Hoffenberg...* I don't see that there's any real substantive argument about whether *she's entitled to the costs and fees* (emphasis added). CP 983; 1047.

3. While the matter was on appeal from July 27, 2011, through February 21, 2013, the defense's position was that Hoffenburg was the prevailing party. CP 983. Notably, in Hoffenburg's appellate response brief, Wais argued:

Plaintiff attempts to misdirect this Court with regard to who the Defendant, in fact, is. Plaintiff, in her briefing, deceptively refers to Defendant's insurer, GEICO, rather than referring to Defendant, Heather Hoffenburg, as the party to the lawsuit. Plaintiff, having filed and served the underlying lawsuit, ought to know that GEICO has never been a party to the lawsuit, and GEICO is not a party to this appeal. GEICO is merely the insurance company indemnifying Defendant in the lawsuit and the present appeal. Thus, Plaintiff is correct when she argues that *GEICO was not an aggrieved party – GEICO is not a party at all*. The Plaintiff [sic] was indemnified by an insurance company was wholly immaterial to the case at trial, was wholly immaterial to the Trial Court's issuance of costs and attorneys fees, and it is wholly immaterial to this appeal (emphasis added). CP 778.

February 21, 2013 – The Court affirmed the trial court's order awarding Hoffenburg reasonable attorney fees and costs under RCW 4.84.250. CP 901-03; CP 895-900.

³ The definition being "the defendant." RCW 2.84.270.

4. February 27, 2013, through May 17, 2013, the defense suddenly changed its position, with Wais arguing that it was now GEICO and not Hoffenburg who was entitled to recover the prevailing party fees and costs. CP 983. According to Wais in a motion filed with the trial court:

Plaintiff should issued [sic] immediate payment to GEICO General Insurance Company consistent with this Court's previous Order that was then subsequently affirmed by the Court of Appeals, Division II... CP 890.

While Plaintiff will inevitably argued [sic] that she has, in fact, issued payment to the named Defendant, Heather Hoffenburg, Plaintiff's Counsel is doing so knowing full and well that 1) Ms. Hoffenburg **has never been involved in the defense of the case against her**, and that it was GEICO who indemnified and insured Ms. Hoffenburg who should receive the statutory litigation costs and reasonable attorney's fees. Without a doubt, Plaintiff's Counsel issued the payment to "Heather Hoffenburt" (sic) knowing that GEICO would not be able to deposit or otherwise collect the funds that it is entitled to for having indemnified and defended Ms. Hoffenburg. *Plaintiff will argue that Ms. Hoffenburg, not GEICO, is the aggrieved party, despite the fact that it is GEICO that incurred the costs of defending the lawsuit on behalf of Ms. Hoffenburg.* Significantly, the award of statutory litigation costs and reasonable attorney's fees are not somehow a windfall for GEICO. It was GEICO, not Heather Hoffenburg, that spent tens of thousands of dollars in attorney's time, copying costs, witnesses time, expert witness fees, and travel costs defending the case against Heather Hoffenburg. Since the case was valued at zero dollars by the jury, *GEICO legally is entitled to those costs and fees back* (emphasis added). CP 890-91.

5. On May 17, 2013, the trial court heard Wais' motion to order Kruger-Willis to issue payment to GEICO rather than to Hoffenburg.⁴ CP 977. The trial court refused to enter judgment for GEICO. CP 977; CP 1016. The trial court ruled that judgment would be in favor of only Hoffenburg and the attorney for the judgment creditor can be the Mary E. Owens law firm. CP 977; CP 1017.

Wais then asked the trial court: "I guess what I would ask this Court to do, which would be consistent with the original order, is then to

o

⁴ Due to a scheduling irregularity, Kruger-Willis' counsel was not present at the hearing because she was not timely notified by the court clerk that the motion hearing had been changed from the afternoon calendar to the morning calendar.

make the judgment creditor Mary E. Owen & Associates, if that makes sense to Your Honor...” CP 978; CP 1016.

The trial court responded: “I’m not comfortable making the judgment creditor anyone other than Heather Hoffenburg...the judgment is going to be in favor – favor of the defendant, Heather Hoffenburg. The attorney for the judgment creditor can be the Mary E. Owens law firm.” CP 978; CP 1017.

As Wais had prepared a proposed order with GEICO as the judgment creditor, the trial court continued the matter to June 3, 2013, for presentation of a judgment order with only Heather Hofferbert as the judgment creditor and Mary Owens law firm as attorney for the judgment creditor. CP 978; CP 1017-19.

6. On June 3, 2013, Wais presented to the trial court for its signature the renewed judgment order that he pre-signed in what he believed would be an *ex parte* matter. CP 67; CP 1000. Kruger-Willis’ counsel insisted on being heard by the trial court with respect to the judgment itself due to the scheduling irregularity that occurred on May 17, 2013. CP 1000-02. Wais did not inform the trial court or Kruger-Willis’ counsel that he failed to comply with the trial court’s ruling of May 17, 2013, by adding Mary E. Owen & Associates as a judgment creditor on the renewed judgment order when the trial court had previously denied his motion “to make the judgment creditor Mary E. Owen & Associates.” CP 67; CP 987; CP 1016-17. Instead, Wais misrepresented to the trial court and to Kruger-Willis’ counsel that the only change he made to the renewed judgment order from the prior hearing was to its format by stating:

This [motion hearing] was set following the motion hearing which was held the 17th of May where I appeared live before you [the trial court] and you had essentially stated that you had no problem signing the order given that it was affirmed by the Court of Appeals, but it was in the wrong format at the time⁵ and it wasn’t – didn’t have a judgment summary on the top as is required. So, I reformatted things such that it would comply with

⁵ The renewed judgment order was in the wrong format in that it did not list *only* Hoffenburg as the judgment creditor. Wais was aware of this fact, however, Kruger-Willis’ counsel was not as she was not present at the motion hearing on May 17, 2013, due to the scheduling irregularity. Wais, however, would know that Kruger-Willis’ counsel would not have any idea as to what transpired at the May 17th hearing, and, coupled with his expectation that the renewed judgment order was going to be presented *ex parte*, it is reasonable to conclude that Wais intentionally misled the trial court and Kruger-Willis’ counsel regarding the form and the substance of the judgment to compel Kruger-Willis to issue the prevailing party fees and costs to a non-party to this action.

a judgment, and so the Court then set it for today's presentation, which originally *I thought was going to be just done ex parte* but plaintiff's counsel wanted to be heard on some issues...(emphasis added). CP 987-88; CP 1000.

Significantly, on June 6, 2011, three weeks before the trial court entered its order of June 27, 2011, that has spawned years of litigation between the parties, Kruger-Willis raised the issue as to who the defense considered the prevailing party in this action – Hoffenburg or GEICO? CP 984; CP 1037. Kruger-Willis sought clarification from the defense prior to the entry of the order because it was foreseeable to Kruger-Willis' counsel that the defense's designation of the prevailing party would become an issue as the matter progressed through the initial appeal and it certainly would become an issue post-appeal (CP 985):

So, we have to question who really is the defendant in this case. Is it the insurance company or is it the defendant, Ms. Hoffenberg? That is an issue that may have to be reserved (addressed) at a later time." CP 984-85; CP 1037.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

Issue No. 1. The trial court erred when it denied Kruger-Willis' renewed motion under RCW 2.44.030.

Issue No. 2. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Kruger-Willis' motion for reconsideration of its denial of her renewed motion under RCW 2.44.030.

Issue No. 3. The trial court erred when it granted the defense's motion for judgment.

Issue No. 4. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Kruger-Willis' motion for reconsideration of entry of judgment.

Issue No. 5. The trial court denied Kruger-Willis the right to fair, impartial, and neutral hearings.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Issue No. 1:

a. Whether the trial court erred when it denied Kruger-Willis' renewed motion under RCW 2.44.030 when it held that absent any communication with Hoffenburg, the defense attorneys had authority under the omnibus clause of the insurance policy;

b. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it improperly considered Hoffenburg's alleged declaration and held, *sua sponte*, that the declaration ratified the unauthorized acts of the defense attorneys;

c. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it found that the defense attorneys did not surrender a substantial right of Hoffenburg's without special authority from her when a judgment was entered against Hoffenburg without her knowledge; and,

d. Whether the Court should apply the law of the case doctrine to the current appeal.

Issue No. 2:

a. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Kruger-Willis' motion for reconsideration when it held, *sua sponte*, that Hoffenburg's alleged declaration "ratified" the unauthorized acts of the defense attorneys when Hoffenburg did not have full knowledge of all material facts of the unauthorized acts of the defense attorneys; and,

b. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Kruger-Willis' motion for reconsideration because substantial justice has not been done in this matter due to irregularities in the proceedings.

Issue No. 3:

a. Whether the trial court erred when it granted the defense's motion for judgment when the record shows that the defense attorneys never considered Hoffenburg the prevailing party under RCW 4.84.250; and,

b. Whether the trial court erred when it entered judgment on February 8, 2016, finding that its order of June 27, 2011, contained a "scrivener's error," which is unsupported by the record.

Issue No. 4:

Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Kruger-Willis' motion for reconsideration of entry of judgment because substantial justice has not been done in this matter due to irregularities in the proceedings.

Issue No. 5:

Whether the trial court, in the proceedings before it, denied Kruger-Willis the right to fair, impartial, and neutral hearings.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a motor vehicle collision that occurred on February 21, 2008. CP 907. Hoffenburg was the permissive driver of Lebeda's vehicle when she crashed into Kruger-Willis' legally parked and unoccupied vehicle, thereby causing property damage to Kruger-Willis' vehicle. CP 686; CP 907. Hoffenburg fled the scene of the collision and she was subsequently identified by witnesses as the driver who hit Kruger-Willis' vehicle. CP 845. Hoffenburg was cited by the Shelton Police Department for hit and run/property damage. CP 907. On the police report, Hoffenburg's name was properly written as Heather Hofferbert. CP 845.

Kruger-Willis filed a claim for diminished value of her vehicle with Lebeda's insurance company, GEICO. CP 845. The parties were unable to settle the claim and in July 2008, Kruger-Willis commenced this action against Lebeda and Hoffenburg. CP 845-46; CP 906-08. Thereafter, the parties entered into a stipulation at the defense's request to dismiss Lebeda as a party-defendant. CP 904-05. The case was subsequently transferred to mandatory arbitration. CP 846.

On February 23, 2010, an arbitration hearing took place. CP 846. GEICO presented no property damage experts to refute Kruger-Willis' property damage expert's valuation of her loss. CP 846. Kruger-Willis was awarded \$5,044.00, the full amount of her pre-suit demand. CP 846; CP 454. GEICO filed a request for a trial de novo. CP 846. Prior to trial, the defense made an offer of judgment to Kruger-Willis in the amount of \$1,000.00, which was declined. CP 846.

The case proceeded to a three day trial on an admitted liability case on April 26, 2011. CP 846; CP 454; RP 80. Wais moved for a directed verdict after Kruger-Willis presented her case-in-chief on damages only and rested. CP 454; RP 80. Wais moved for a directed verdict on the basis that Kruger-Willis could not prove liability, which forced Kruger-Willis to rush to court for less than five minutes of testimony regarding liability. CP 454; RP 80.

On April 28, 2011, the jury returned a verdict for Hoffenburg. CP 846. On May 26, 2011, the defense filed a motion for defendant's costs and reasonable attorney fees under RCW 4.84.250. CP 846. Kruger-Willis opposed the motion because it was not timely filed. CP 846. On June 6, 2011, the trial court heard argument from counsel regarding the motion and it continued the hearing to allow Wais to submit by declaration the time he expended on the case under the lodestar method. CP 846.

On June 15, 2011, Wais filed a second motion for costs and for reasonable attorney fees under RCW 4.84.250. CP 847. Kruger-Willis

opposed the motion on the basis that as the third party insurance company, GEICO was not an aggrieved party and it lacked standing to file a request for a trial de novo and similarly, it could not be considered the prevailing party entitled to reasonable attorney fees under RCW 4.84.250. CP 847.

On June 27, 2011, the trial court granted the defense's motion under RCW 4.84.250 in the amount of \$11,490.00. CP 847; CP 901-03. Kruger-Willis appealed. CP 975.

On February 21, 2013, this Court affirmed the trial court, holding that Kruger-Willis "does not succeed in showing that the trial court erred in awarding Defendant Hoffenburg reasonable attorney fees and costs." CP 975-76; CP 895-900.

Immediately afterward, Wais made demand to Kruger-Willis' counsel for payment in the amount of \$11,490.00, stating that the check should be made payable to GEICO. CP 742; CP 734; CP 735. A check was promptly tendered to Mary E. Owen & Associates made payable to Heather Hofferbert in the full amount demanded by Wais of \$11,490.00. CP 742; CP 731-33; RP 53.

When Wais received the check, he advised Kruger-Willis' counsel that if a new check was not reissued to GEICO, he would move for interest on the award. CP 742; CP 736. Kruger-Willis refused because GEICO was not the prevailing party. CP 736. Wais then moved the trial court to order Kruger-Willis to issue payment to GEICO and to enter judgment for GEICO. CP 892.

The hearing on Wais' motion to enter judgment for GEICO was held on May 17, 2013. CP 977. During the hearing, the trial court remarked that "information subsequent to that tells me that...payment wasn't made." CP 977; CP 1016. Wais failed to inform the trial court that payment had indeed been made 71 days before the hearing date to him for Hoffenburg in the amount of \$11,490.00. CP 977.

During the May 17, 2013, hearing, the trial court would not enter judgment for GEICO or for Mary E. Owen & Associates. CP 977-78; CP 1016-17. The trial court ruled that judgment would be in favor of only Hoffenburg and the attorney for the judgment creditor can be the Mary E. Owens law firm. CP 977; CP 1017. The trial court then continued the matter to June 3, 2013, for presentation of the judgment. CP 978; CP 1017.

The judgment presented to the trial court for its signature by Wais on June 3, 2013, which he believed was going to be presented *ex parte*, failed to comply with the trial court's rulings from the May 17, 2013, hearing. CP 67; CP 978; CP 1000. On Wais' renewed judgment order, which he pre-signed, he listed the judgment creditor(s) as "Heather Hoffenburg and her attorneys Mary E. Owen & Associates (emphasis added)" instead of Heather Hoffenburg. CP 67; CP 978. For the attorney for the judgment creditor, he listed "Morgan J. Wais" instead of "Mary E. Owens law firm." CP 67; CP 978.

At the hearing on June 3, 2013, Kruger-Willis' counsel argued an entry of judgment was not necessary as the award had been satisfied. CP 979; CP 1002. Kruger-Willis' counsel requested a continuance to properly address the issue regarding judgment. CP 1004. The trial court continued the matter to June 24, 2013. CP 979; CP 1006-08.

During the hearing on June 24, 2013, the trial court requested briefing from the parties regarding to whom the check for attorney fees and costs should be made payable. CP 979. Kruger-Willis provided her legal authorities and the defense did not. CP 979. The trial court also instructed Wais to present an order for its signature so that Kruger-Willis could deposit the disputed amount of the award into the court's registry. Wais failed to comply with the trial court's instruction. CP 979.

Based upon Wais' admission in the motion to enter judgment for GEICO that Hoffenburg has never been involved in the defense of the case against her, Kruger-Willis filed a motion under RCW 2.44.030 for Wais to prove his authority. CP 979.

On August 9, 2013, the trial court heard argument from counsel on Kruger-Willis' motion under RCW 2.44.030. CP 979. Wais argued:

Well, Your Honor, it's not a secret at this point – I don't think it's ever been kept as a secret that there – *I have not had contact with the named defendant in this lawsuit.* The facts have been substantially outlined and gone over at length. But it seems that plaintiff's argument is simply that just because the – *I haven't spoken with the named defendant,* that there is no authority, but the fact is that the authority does exist pursuant to the contract...*That there hasn't been actual communication with that person* despite

my diligent efforts to accomplish that, doesn't, I believe, void coverage (emphasis added). CP 583.

Despite Wais' admission that he never communicated with Hoffenburg, the trial court denied Kruger-Willis' motion for Wais to prove his authority. CP 979; CP 655.

In an October 21, 2013, letter to the parties that accompanied the trial court's order denying Kruger-Willis' motion under RCW 2.44.030, the trial court held (CP 656-658):

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