No. 48375-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 JUN 20 PM 3: 22
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY DEPUTY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

TORI KRUGER-WILLIS,

Appellant,

v.

HEATHER HOFFENBURG and JOHN DOE HOFFENBURG,

Respondent.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

LOCKNER & CROWLEY, INC., P.S. Paul L. Crowley, WSBA #31235 524 Tacoma Avenue South Tacoma, WA, 98402 (253) 383-4704 Attorney for Respondent

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

- 1. You and your relatives;
- 2. Any other person using the auto with your permission. See CP 693-696.

As an "insured," Heather Hoffenburg was entitled to defense and indemnification, with counsel appointed to represent her, and all costs associated with her representation paid by GEICO. See CP 693-696 "Additional Payments We Will Make Under The Liability Coverages." As with any contractual relationship, the party entitled to the benefits of the contract is also subject to the burdens of the contract.

Washington law has consistently held that carriers may condition coverage upon the cooperation of the insured. *Staples v. Allstate Ins. Co.*.

295 P.3d 201 (2013). The GEICO policy under which coverage was extended to Heather Hoffenburg requires that the insured participate "in the investigation of the occurrence...in the conduct of suits...at trials and hearings...in securing and giving evidence...[and] by obtaining the attendance of witnesses." See CP 693-696. "Assistance And Cooperation Of The Insured." Because the carrier reserves the right to deny coverage "unless the insured has fully complied with all the policy's terms and conditions," the potential consequences of failure to cooperate are substantial. See CP 693-696. "Actions Against Us." The Appellant argues that the provisions of both RCW 2.44.030 and RPC 1.2(f) required defense counsel to inform the court of Heather Hoffenburg's failure to respond to communications, then withdraw from representation. Rather than acknowledge the consequences that would follow this course of conduct, the Appellant simply pretends that they do not exist. This Court is not obligated to labor under the same false pretense. consequence of defense counsel's withdrawal would be entry of an order of default by Plaintiff's counsel. If no attorney is able to appear on behalf of the insured due to lack of communication with the insured, there would be no basis for the court to deny the Plaintiff's request that the court find the Defendant to be in default. The second consequence of defense counsel's withdrawal would be entry of a default judgment on behalf of

In the absence of counsel, there would be no one to the Plaintiff. challenge either the entry of a judgment, or the amount thereof. The third, and final, consequence of defense counsel's withdrawal would be action by the carrier to deny coverage to the insured for lack of cooperation. The Appellant seems to be blind to the reality that a court order requiring defense counsel to withdraw from representation based upon a lack of communication with the insured would provide the carrier with a legal, and contractual, basis for denial of coverage to the insured. impossible to reconcile the course of conduct that the Appellant advocates, and the resulting consequences to the Defendant, with the provisions of RPC 5.4(c) and with the general principle that counsel is required to act on behalf of his or her client rather than in a manner that actively undermines that client's right to defense and indemnification. As a practical matter, it is equally impossible to reconcile the course of conduct that the Appellant advocates with the resulting consequences to her own client. It defies logic to suggest that it would be consistent with the "undeviating fidelity" required by RPC 5.4(c) for Plaintiff's counsel to actively undermine the Defendant's coverage, thereby denying her own client access to the insurance coverage that would otherwise be available to her should she prevail against the Defendant.

The language of the GEICO policy is clear: "[w]e will defend any suit for damages payable under the terms of the policy. We may investigate and settle any claim or suit." See CP 693-696. This provision complements Washington case law establishing, and outlining the requirements of, the "duty to defend." *National Security Corporation v. Immunex Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 872, 879, 297, P.3d 688 (2013). The rules of professional conduct state that:

A lawyer shall not purport to act as a lawyer for any person or organization if the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the lawyer is acting without the authority of that person or organization, unless the lawyer is authorized or required to so act by law or a court order. RPC 1.2(f).

The Appellant has taken the position that defense counsel cannot act on behalf of Ms. Hoffenburg without her express authorization, ignoring the reality that both RCW 2.44.030 and RPC 1.2(f) contemplate occasions in which the lawyer is "authorized or required to so act by law or a court order." RPC 1.2(f). Generally speaking, those circumstances arise in cases in which criminal defense counsel is appointed to represent the interests of a recalcitrant Defendant, but the principle remains the same. In this case, defense counsel was obligated by the terms of the contract, which require the carrier to appoint counsel for its insured, and by the "duty to defend" which imposes a similar requirement. The Appellant's argument that the "duty to defend" can be viewed as separate and distinct

from the "authority to act" is absurd, illogical and contrary to public policy. Moreover, the Appellant's argument ignores the longstanding presumption that an insurance contract will be interpreted, and enforced, with the ordinary meaning that an average purchaser of insurance would give to the terms of the policy. *Campbell v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 166 Wash.2d 466, 472, 209 P.3d 859 (2009). Insofar as the contract expressly states that the carrier "will defend any suit for damages," it defies logic to suggest that the average purchaser of insurance would not read that term as granting retained defense counsel the "authority to act" on behalf of the insured.

A decision that retained defense counsel lacks the "authority to act" on behalf of the insured would run contrary to the principle that "once the duty to defend attaches, insurers may not desert policyholders and allow them to incur substantial legal costs while waiting for an indemnity determination." *American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693 (2010) citing *Truck Ins. Exch.*, 147 Wash.2d at 761, 58 P.3d 276. If Washington State law imposes a "duty to defend" upon the insurance carrier, but does not recognize a corresponding "authority to act" by counsel retained to effectuate that duty, it is not an exaggeration to suggest that the outcome would be disastrous for both the

insured, who is denied a defense, and the Plaintiff, who may be denied a recovery.

If Washington State were to adopt the Appellant's legal theory, the carrier's "duty to defend" would remain, but the ability of that duty to be effectuated would be extinguished in those cases in which counsel's ability to communicate with the client is disrupted. In this case, the Appellant's legal theory would require defense counsel to withdraw from representation of Heather Hoffenburg and would retroactively disqualify the counsel who have appeared on her behalf. The Appellant assumes, but does not openly acknowledge, that this would necessarily require the jury's verdict, and the resulting judgment against the Appellant, to be vacated. The Appellant similarly assumes, but does not acknowledge, that Heather Hoffenburg would be left without representation, thereby allowing her to enter a default judgment against Ms. Hoffenburg on behalf of her client. Unless GEICO is obligated to retain a series of attorneys, each of whom is forced to withdraw upon concluding that contact cannot be established with Ms. Hoffenburg, the Appellant cannot explain why her legal theory would not render the "duty to defend" meaningless when applied to a noncompliant insured.

3. THE INSURANCE CONTRACT

Washington State law requires that insurance policies be construed in the same manner as all other contracts. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co., 142 Wash.2d 654, 665, 15 P.3d 115 (2000). Contracts are construed as a whole, and are to be given a "fair, reasonable and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance." Id. at 666. Where the terms of the contract are clear, the court must enforce them as written, and may not modify the contract or otherwise interpose ambiguity where none exists within the contract itself. Id. Any ambiguity in the contract will be resolved in favor of the insured. Id.

The Appellant contends that "there no words, or any references thereto, which would form a reasonable basis for the defense attorneys to believe they were permitted to act on Hoffenburg's behalf without her authority." See Opening Brief of Appellant at P. 21. As outlined above, the Appellant's view of this question turns on the notion that the carrier's "duty to defend" exists independently of defense counsel's "authority to act." A policy of insurance is a contract, and the language of the GEICO policy affording coverage to Heather Hoffenburg is clear and unambiguous. The terms of the policy specifically state that the carrier will retain counsel on behalf of the insured, and "defend any suit for damages payable under the terms of the policy." See CP 693-696. This

guarantee is not unique to the GEICO policy, and is sufficiently ubiquitous that Washington courts have consistently held that carriers are obligated to retain "competent defense counsel for the insured." *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 388, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986). The Appellant's position that the "duty to defend" does not intersect with the "authority to act" is at odds with the language of the contract affording covered to the insured in this case, case law affirming the intersection of these duties and the clear logic of the obligation itself. The canons of contractual interpretation require this Court to enforce the plain meaning of the contract, as a reasonable person would understand it. No reasonable person, reviewing the GEICO policy, would conclude that it does not extend a promise of defense to the insured, with a corollary "authority to act" on the part of counsel retained to provide that defense.

The Appellant's basic position is that the "duty to defend" is separate and distinct from the "authority to act," and that no "authority to act" can be found within the policy. Both of these contentions are demonstrably false, but even if this Court does not view the terms of the contract as affording retained counsel the "authority to act" on behalf of the insured, this Court should find that the "authority to act" is implicit in the "duty to defend." No rational Plaintiff would propose the interpretation advanced by the Appellant, as carrier would be freed from

its obligations, the insured would be exposed, and the Plaintiff would have no source of funds to compensate for injury.

4. THE INSURANCE DEFENSE PERSPECTIVE

Law, and not opinion, should be the foundation for this Court's decisions. Notwithstanding that basic principle, this Court can, and should, consider the public policy implications of its decisions as it weighs the factual and legal issues raised by this case. Accordingly, while the comments of defense counsel, as quoted at length in the Appellant's Opening Brief, do not rise to the level of legal authority, they do represent a clear and cogent summation of the policy considerations underlying the rules.

5. THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

The Appellant states that "Kruger-Willis has never disputed that GEICO had a duty to defend Hoffenburg under the terms of Lebeda's insurance contract...." See Appellant's Opening Brief at P. 25. The Appellant takes the position, however, that a separate set of rules, applicable to retained defense counsel, make that duty impossible to fulfill. The Appellant further contends that the attorneys are "attempting to improperly align their unauthorized appearance and acts with duties imposed upon insurance companies instead of duties imposed upon attorneys by RCW 2.44.030 and by the RPCs, which are distinctly

separate and independent duties." Id. As indicated above, the Appellant's logic is strained here. While the evidence is very clear that the Appellant is advancing an argument that would leave the insured with neither defense, nor indemnification, the Appellant nonetheless maintains that defense counsel is improperly aligned with the carrier, and not the insured. in attempting to preserve the insured's right defense and indemnification under the contract. The Respondent need not point out to this Court that such an argument makes absolutely no sense. Indeed, if the counsel retained to represent Heather Hoffenburg were acting on behalf of GEICO rather than Ms. Hoffenburg, there would be no better way to further those interests than to engage in exactly the conduct advised by the Appellant: withdrawal from representation of the insured, with notice to the carrier that counsel was forced to withdraw due to lack of cooperation. The carrier would then be in a position to withdraw coverage. The Appellant cannot explain how this would harm the carrier, but the potential for harm to both the insured and the Plaintiff is readily apparent.

The Appellant's sole authority for the premise that there was no authority to act is a 31 year old WSBA Advisory Opinion that is a single paragraph in length. The opinion states as follows:

The lawyer was retained by an insurance company to represent an employee of the insured company. The employee was covered under the terms of the insurance policy but was no longer employed by the insured.] In reviewing your inquiry, the Committee understood the facts to be that the employee you had been requested to represent had no contact with you, and that in fact no attorney-client relationship had ever been formed. Based upon that understanding of the facts, the Committee was of the opinion that you had no authority to act as a lawyer for the employee, and therefore should not enter a general denial on his behalf.

The advisory opinion is vague to the point of being nearly meaningless, and it contains the hedge that the committee was making certain assumptions about both the facts of the case and of the terms under which the representation had been authorized. The Appellant would have this Court speculate about both the facts of the case giving rise to the advisory opinion and their relationship to those in this case. This Court need not accept the invitation to travel down that rabbit hole. The rules of professional conduct state that:

A lawyer shall not purport to act as a lawyer for any person or organization if the lawyer knows or reasonably should know that the lawyer is acting without the authority of that person or organization, unless the lawyer is authorized or required to so act by law or a court order. RPC 1.2(f).

As outlined above, the terms of the contract of insurance providing coverage to Heather Hoffenburg outlines the basis for retained counsel's "authority to act" on behalf of the insured. Counsel is authorized to act on behalf of the insured because the "authority to act" and the "duty to defend" are inoperable independently of one another, and because the

terms of the contract expressly authorize counsel to appear on behalf of the insured in order to fulfill the carrier's obligations under the "duty to defend."

A2. Ratification

It is the Respondent's position that the question of ratification is irrelevant and immaterial to this case. The Respondent does not intend to rely upon the Declaration of Heather Hoffenburg, and relies instead upon the legal issues outlined above.

A3. No Surrender of a Substantial Right

The Appellant argues that counsel surrendered a substantial right on behalf of Heather Hoffenburg. Leaving aside the fact that the cases cited by the Appellant assume that these alleged violations occurred within the context of the "unauthorized appearance of an attorney," the Appellant would have this Court believe that Ms. Hoffenburg's interests would have been better served had defense counsel been forced to withdraw, consistent with the Appellant's legal theory regarding the "authority to act." The Appellant would likewise have this Court believe that Ms. Hoffenburg would have been better served by the entry of an order of default, followed by the entry of a default judgment against her. The legal basis for counsel's "authority to act" is very clear, and the suggestion that counsel's representation of Ms. Hoffenburg did not advance her interests is

belied by the fact that Heather Hoffenburg was the prevailing party at a jury trial, with Tori Kruger-Willis left owing her reasonable attorney fees.

A4. Law of The Case Doctrine

As indicated above, the Appellant disingenuously misrepresents this Court's holding in the second of the three appeals in this case. The Appellant persists in the falsehood that the Court of Appeals has already rendered a decision in favor of the Appellant on the question of "authority to act." This Court's own opinion expressly rejects that theory.

B1. Denial of Motion for Reconsideration

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